UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-30-2012

Altrua Healthshare, Inc. v. Deal Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39388

Statement of the Case
A. Course of Proceedings4
B. Statement of Facts
Issues Presented on Appeal
Argument
I. ALTRUA'S MEMBERSHIP PLAN IS UNAMBIGUOUS AND IS NOT A CONTRACT OF INSURANCE
A. Contracts must be interpreted according to the plain meaning of their words
B. To constitute an insurance contract, the insurer must assume some "element of risk." The Altrua Member's Agreement is not insurance because Altrua does not assume any risk of payment of a member's expenses15
C. Administering members' funds to obtain cost savings does not create a contract of insurance
D. Altrua's use and administration of an escrow account does not transmute its plan into an insurance contract
E. The Altrua Plan is not an illusory contract23
CONCLUSION

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION
Article I, §1014
CASES
American Foreign Insurance Co. v. Reichert, 140 Idaho 394, 94 P.3d 699 (2004)25
Andrae v. Idaho Counties Risk Management Program Underwriters, 175 P.3d 195 (2007)14
<i>Chandler v. Hayden</i> , 147 Idaho 765, 215 P.3d 485 (2009)15
Commonwealth v. Reinhold, 325 S.W.3d 272 (Kentucky, 2010)19, 20
Dolan v. Johnson, 95 Idaho 385, 509 P.2d 1306 (1975)
Driver v. S.I. Corporation, 139 Idaho 423, 80 P.3d 1024 (2003)23
<i>Group Health & Life Ins. Co. v. Royal Drug, Inc.</i> , 440 U.S. 205, 99 S.Ct. 1067, 59 L.Ed.2d 261(1979)
Messerli v. Monarch Memory Gardens, Inc., 88 Idaho 88, 110, 397 P.2d 34 (1964)17
National Fire Union Ins. v. Dixon, 141 Idaho 537, 112 P.3d 825 (2005)25
Reynolds v. Shoemaker, 139 Idaho 591, 83 P.3d 135 (App. 2003)14
Securities & Exch. Comm'n v. Variable Annuity Life Ins. Co., 359 U.S. 65, 79 S.Ct. 618, 3 L.Ed.2d 640 (1959)16
STATUTES
Idaho Code §41-10216
Idaho Code §41-10316
Idaho Code §30-902(4)23
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Holmes's Appleman on Insurance 2d. (1996)16

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Introduction

An ever-increasing number of families in Idaho cannot afford to buy traditional private medical insurance. 59 Idaho families turned to Altrua Healthshare's ("Altrua") medical sharing plan as their only affordable alternative. As a faith-based nonprofit organization, Altrua is able to state as a historical fact that "[N]ot one eligible medical need has gone unpaid since the membership started." R. Ex. p. 405. Altrua makes no promise to pay members' claims and assumes no financial risk for its members. Instead, it resolves all of its members' claims with their own escrowed funds.

Now, the Idaho Department of Insurance has declared that members' sharing of medical expenses under Altrua's Membership Plan constitutes insurance. As a result, Altrua has been forced out of Idaho, depriving these 59 families of the means to pay for medical care by sharing their medical expenses with other believing families.

A. Course of Proceedings

On January 15, 2010, the Idaho Department of Insurance filed a Notice of Violation against Altrua, contending that it was operating as a health insurance company in Idaho without being licensed. Altrua failed to respond and a default order was entered against it on March 10, 2010. R.CR. p. 92. On April 21, 2010, the Director of the Department entered an order withdrawing and rescinding the March 10, 2010 order and appointed a hearing officer. An administrative hearing was held on September 1, 2010 before David V. Nielsen, Esq., Hearing Officer. R.CR. p. 93. After post-hearing briefing was completed by both parties, the Hearing Officer issued his initial Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Preliminary Order on November 15, 2010. R.CR. p. 93. Due to a clerical error, an Amended Preliminary Order

was issued on November 22, 2010. R.CR. p. 93. The agency found that Altrua was operating as a health insurance company in Idaho and ordered it to cease and desist from operating in Idaho, or alternatively, required it to obtain a license as an insurance company.

Altrua filed a Motion for Reconsideration and a Memorandum in Support on December 2, 2010. The Department filed its response on December 6, 2010. R.CR. p. 93. On December 22, 2010, an Order Denying Request for Reconsideration was entered. R.CR. p. 93. By operation of law, the Hearing Officer's Preliminary Order became final on January 4, 2011. Altrua filed a Notice of Appeal and Petition for Judicial Review on January 24, 2011. R.CR. 110.

Altrua filed a Petition for Judicial Review in the District Court for Ada County on the grounds that the agency decision was in error on the facts and the law. Altrua argued that it was not an insurer since Altrua's membership plan does not result in the transfer of any of its members' claim risk to Altrua. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that transference of the claim risk to the insurer is an essential element of the contract of insurance.

The Petition for Judicial Review was heard in the Ada County District Court before the Honorable Kathryn L. Sticklin, District Judge. On October 13, 2011, Judge Sticklin issued a Memorandum Decision and Order affirming the decision of the Idaho Department of Insurance prohibiting Altrua Healthshare, Inc. from selling insurance in Idaho. R.CR. p. 92. The appeal was suspended until judgment was entered on December 15, 2011. R.CR. p. 114.

B. Statement of Facts

Altrua Healthshare, Inc., a Texas Nonprofit Corporation, ("Altrua") administers a membership program for sharing of medical needs as an alternative to health insurance. Altrua, formerly Zion Share has been operating in Idaho since 2001. It is a Non-Insurance faith-based

health sharing organization that serves 59 member families in Idaho. Most of these families have limited financial means and would not be able to afford health insurance coverage from traditional health insurers. All of these member families are of the LDS faith. R. CR. p. 23

Altrua is a private nonprofit Christian organization designed to help members pay for their health care expenses through its members' voluntary sharing of their monthly membership payments. Membership in the organization is based on religious principles and beliefs common to its members. Members of Altrua pay a monthly fee that is placed in an escrow account. Altrua administers the members' funds by negotiating with health care providers and making payments from the members' funds to resolve their medical expense claims pursuant to guidelines agreed upon by all of the members. R. CR. p. 23.

Members of Altrua remain self pay and sign a membership application with the knowledge that they are each fully responsible for their medical claims. Members' expectations, based on their membership agreement, is that all of the members will share the funds they have deposited in escrow with Altrua to resolve members' claims submitted according to the guidelines.

The members affirm that they believe that by following what the Bible calls us to do as Christians, together we can share in each other's burdens by sharing in medical claims with each other. R.CR. p. 23.

Since 2001, members in Idaho have submitted their claims and have had their claims discounted and adjusted through the providers which has saved both the membership and families large amounts of money. From 1/1/2006 through the present date, Altrua has resolved 6,331 medical claims for its Idaho members, and issued payments to medical providers of \$1,050, 479.50. R.CR. p. 0023.

Altrua does not agree to pay any members' medical expense claims from its own funds, and does not assume any risks with respect to its members' medical expense claims. Altrua only makes the that Altrua will apply the members' escrowed funds to the resolution and payment of members' medical claims submitted in accordance with the guidelines subscribed to by all of the members. R. Ex. p. 409.

As a nonprofit entity, Altrua does not receive any monetary benefit from the approval or denial of a members' claim. Altrua receives only an administrative fee for handling of the escrow account funds and for claims resolution on behalf of the members. R. Ex. p. 472 (Tr. p. 83, line 2 - p. 84, line 11.)

The medical bills of the 59 Idaho member families are resolved not through guaranteed insurance claim payments, but instead by each member agreeing that the membership dues that he contributes may be used together with the dues paid by other members to resolve and pay claims submitted by the members.

The following facts were established at the administrative hearing in this case.

- In order to have an insurance contract, there must be a promise to pay or indemnify by the "insurer." R. Ex. p. 457, (Tr. p. 23, lines 17 – 21, Eileen Mundorff Testimony); Idaho Code §41-102.
- Upon review of the medical sharing program of the Christian Brotherhood in 2000, the Idaho Department of Insurance determined that the agreement by its members to share in the medical expenses of the other members, was not a contract of insurance because there was no contract to indemnify or pay a benefit to another party. R. Ex. p. 435, Petitioner's Exh. 6, 12/14/00 IDOI Letter.

- Altrua Healthshare's Membership Application does not include any promise to pay or indemnify the members' medical expenses. There are specific disclaimers in Altrua Healthshare's Membership Agreement and Guidelines. R. Ex. p. 457 (Tr. p. 24, lines 1 – 24); R. Ex. p. 458 (Tr. p. 26, lines 16 – 22); R. Ex. p. 459 (Tr. p. 32, lines 15 – p. 33, line 2, Eileen Mundorff Testimony); R. Ex. p. 463 (Tr. p. 48, line 16 – p. 49, line 6); R. Ex. p. 464 (Tr. p. 51, line 16 – p. 52, line 6, Randall L. Sluder Testimony).
- 4. There is no provision in the plan documents that states that Altrua has a duty to pay a claim. R. Ex. p. 457 (Tr. p. 24, line 1 p. 24, line 14; Tr. p. 26, lines 16 22); R. Ex. p. 459 (Tr. p. 32, line 15 p. 33, line 2, Eileen Mundorff Testimony); R. Ex. p. 463 (Tr. p. 48, line 16 p. 49, line 6); R. Ex. p. 464 (Tr. p. 51, line 16 p. 52, line 6, Randall L. Sluder Testimony).
- Altrua Healthshare did not agree to indemnify or pay any benefits to or for its members. It does not make any promise that a member's expenses will be shared or reimbursed. R. Ex. p. 463 (Tr. p. 48, line 16 – p. 49, line 6); R. Ex. p. 464 (Tr. p. 51, line 16 – p. 52, line 6, Randall L. Sluder Testimony;) R. Ex. p. 406, Petitioner's Exh. 5, p. 4; R. Ex. p. 408, Pet. Exh. 5, p. 6; Exh. 5, R. Ex. p. 200, Resp. Exh. A, p. DOI – 000004, R. Ex. p. 205, Resp. Exh. A., p. DOI - 000009.
- 6. Altrua Healthshare does not assume the responsibility for payment of any member's medical expenses. Each member remains financially liable for all of his or her unpaid medical needs, as set out in Altrua's Guidelines. R. Ex. p. 408, Pet. Exh. 5, p. 6, Resp. Exh. A., p. DOI 000031. R. Ex. p. 463 (Tr. p. 48, line 16 p. 49, line 6;) R. Ex. p. 464 (Tr. p. 51, line 16 p. 52, line 6, Randall L. Sluder Testimony).

7. The Acknowledgements, Standards and Commitments section of Altrua's

Application for Membership, R. Ex. p. 386, states in pertinent part:

- a) "I understand that the membership is not insurance but is a voluntary medical needs sharing program, and that there are no representations, promises, or guarantees that my medical expenses will be paid. I also understand that sharing for medical needs does not come from an insurance company, but from the membership according to the guidelines and membership Escrow Instructions."
- b) "I understand that the guidelines are not a contract and do not constitute a promise or obligation to share, but instead are for Altrua Healthshare's reference in following the Membership Escrow Instructions."
- c) "I understand that monthly contribution amounts are based on operating and medical needs and the total number of members and that monthly contributions are figured on a periodic basis as needed and are subject to change at any time. I also understand that the payment of my monthly contributions is voluntary and that I am not obligated in any way to send any money."
- 8. Unlike an insurance company, Altrua Healthshare escrows membership funds and

distributes them according to Guidelines agreed to by the Members. R. Ex. p. 387.

("Escrow Instructions, Signatures and Application Checklist"); Pet. Exh. 5, p. 5; R.

Ex. p. 461 (Tr. 37/18 - 38/8, Eileen Mundorff Testimony;) R. Ex. p. 463 (Tr. 48/16

- 49/6;) R. Ex. p. 464 (Tr. p. 51/16 - 52/6, R. Ex. p. 466, Tr. p. 57, line 15 - p. 58,

line 6; R. Ex. p. 468 (Tr. p. 67, line 3 – p. 69, line 9, Randall L. Sluder Testimony).

- Altrua's Brochure states that membership needs are shared among the membership from their contributions. Altrua acts as an Escrow and processing company for membership contributions. It states:
 - a) "Altrua Healthshare is not insurance, does not collect premiums, make promises of payment, or guarantee that your medical needs will be shared by the membership. Sharing of eligible medical needs is completely voluntary among the membership. Member contributions are used to share in eligible medical needs as directed in the Membership Escrow Instructions listed on the application." R. Ex. p. 406, Pet. Exh. 5, p. 6.

- b) Altrua's Guidelines brochure, R. Ex. p. 408, Pet. Exh. 5, p. 8., informs applicants of Altrua's role. "To those who may be unfamiliar with the concept of people caring for one another and voluntarily sharing their medical needs, Altrua Healthshare is a medical-cost sharing membership that acts as a neutral escrow agent for the members. Our members voluntarily submit monthly contributions into an escrow account with Altrua Healthshare acting as the escrow agent between members."
- c) The following disclaimer is also set out in Altrua's Guidelines Brochure R. Ex. p. 408, Pet. Exh. 5, p. 8: "This publication or membership is not issued by an insurance company, nor is it offered through an insurance company. This publication or the membership does not guarantee or promise that your eligible medical needs will be shared by the membership. This publication or the membership should never be considered as a substitute for an insurance policy. If the publication or the membership is unable to share in all or part of your eligible medical needs, or whether or not this membership continues to operate, you will remain financially liable for any and all unpaid medical costs.

This is not a legally binding agreement to reimburse you for medical needs you incur, but is an opportunity for you to care for one another in a time of need, to present your medical needs to others as outlined in these membership guidelines. The financial assistance you may receive will come from other members' monthly contributions that are placed in an escrow account, not from Altrua Healthshare."

10. In September, 2001, the Idaho Department of Insurance reviewed the medical

sharing program of Kirtland Sharing Alliance dba Zion Healtthshare, Altrua

Healthshare's predecessor, and determined that its medical sharing program did not

constitute insurance under Idaho law. R. Ex. p. 341, Pet. Exh. 1, IDOI Letter dated

9/18/01.

11. Altrua Healthshare acquired Zion Healthshare's business in 2005. Altrua operates the same program that Zion Healthshare operated in Idaho. It has made no substantial changes in the way that funds are escrowed, claims reviewed or moneys distributed. R. Ex. p. 462, (Tr. p. 44, line 3 – p. 46, line 1, Randall L. Sluder Testimony).

- 12. Altrua Healthshare has continued to provide membership services to Idaho members who were formerly members of Zion Healthshare's program. R. Ex. p. 463 (Tr. p. 47, line 17 p. 48, line 7, Randall L. Sluder Testimony).
- 13. Altrua Healthshare is a nonprofit organization. It does not have the right to appropriate the members' escrowed funds for its own use or benefit. Tr. administrative fee for negotiating and resolving claims under the Guidelines and administering the escrowed funds to pay approved members' claims. It does not make a profit by declaring member's claims ineligible for sharing. It has nothing to gain or lose financially from approving or disapproving payment of a member's claim with the members' funds. R. Ex. p. 472 (Tr. p. 82, line 22 p. 84, line 7, Randall L. Sluder Testimony).
- 14. Altrua Healthshare is paid an administrative fee for administering the Membership program pursuant to the Guidelines. R. Ex. p. 472 (Tr. p. 82, line 2 p. 84, line 7, Randall L. Sluder Testimony).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the Court erred in finding that Altrua's Membership Plan constituted a contract of insurance, notwithstanding express statements and disclaimers repeated throughout Altrua's membership brochure, Application, and Guidelines, that negate any assumption of risk of loss or duty to pay members' claims.
- 2. Whether the Court erred in finding that by establishing lifestyle requirements for membership, and guidelines for claims eligible for sharing from members' escrowed funds, that Altrua was conducting the business of insurance.
- 3. Whether the District Court based its factual findings upon substantial and competent evidence, and whether that evidence supported the District Court's conclusions of law and judgment.
- 4. Whether the findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions issued by the Department of Insurance and affirmed by the District Court are in violation of the Idaho law.
- 5. Whether the findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions issued by the Department of Insurance and affirmed by the District Court are in excess of the statutory authority of the agency.
- 6. Whether the findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions issued by the Department of Insurance and affirmed by the District Court are arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

Ι

ALTRUA'S MEMBERSHIP PLAN IS UNAMBIGUOUS AND IS NOT A CONTRACT OF INSURANCE

A. Contracts must be interpreted according to the plain meaning of their words.

The fact that Altrua's Membership Application and Guidelines Brochure clearly delineate that it is not insurance, and that membership does not create any legally binding agreement for Altrua to pay a member's medical expenses was not disputed by the Department of Insurance. Nor was there any dispute that Altrua administers the resolution of members' claims as an escrow company, paying all member's claims with member's escrowed funds. R. Ex. p. 373, Petitioner's Exh. 5, p.5 ("Escrow Instructions")

Altrua's Application and Guidelines Brochure are replete with disclaimers and notices to members that inform them that they are not purchasing insurance coverage, and that Altrua does not agree to pay or indemnify them for their medical expenses. R. Ex. p. 372, Petitioner's Exh. 5, p. 4; R. Ex. p. 406, 408, 409.

The Department of Insurance found and the Court affirmed that, notwithstanding the clear and unambiguous terms of the membership application and guidelines, and specific language in the plan documents disclaiming any assumption of risk or duty to pay, that Altrua's agreement guaranteed payment of its members' claims and assumed their risk of loss because Altrua informed members of the fact that "Not one eligible medical need has gone unpaid since the membership started." R. Ex. p. 405.

The Department's expert, Eileen Mundorff, admitted that the Altrua Membership documents include these disclaimers, and that there is no specific provision that states that Altrua has a duty to pay a claim, or language stating that Altrua will pay a member's claim. Instead, she relied entirely on "the general tenor of the plan documents." R. Ex. p. 459 (Tr. p.

32, line 15 – p. 33, line 2.)

Idaho law does not support the Department's position. In Reynolds v. Shoemaker, 139

Idaho 591, 83 P.3d 135, 137 (App. 2003), the Court declared:

If the terms of a contract are clear and unambiguous, then interpretation of that contract is a question of law. *City of Idaho Falls v. Home Indem. Co.,* 126 Idaho 604, 607, 888 P.2d 383, 386 (1995). The meaning of an unambiguous contract must be determined from the plain meaning of the contract's own words. *Id.*

Idaho courts have applied this basic principle of contract interpretation to insurance

contracts. Thus, the Court noted in Andrae v. Idaho Counties Risk Management Program

Underwriters, 175 P.3d 195 (2007):

"Insurance policies are contracts, and "the parties' rights and remedies are primarily established within the four corners of the policy." *Featherston By and Through Featherston v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 125 Idaho 840, 843, 875 P.2d 937, 940 (1994).

Like other contracts, insurance policies "are to be construed as a whole and the courts will look to the plain meaning and ordinary sense in which words are used in a policy." *Miller v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho,* 108 Idaho 896, 899, 702 P.2d 1356, 1359 (1985). Finally, where the "policy language is clear and unambiguous, coverage must be determined in accordance with the plain meaning of the words used." *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Roberts,* 128 Idaho 232, 235, 912 P.2d 119, 122 (1996)."

Article I, §10 of the United States Constitution states that "No State shall ... pass

any...law impairing the obligation of contracts..." Citizens have a constitutional right to enter

into a contract, and a State may not retroactively alter a contract, except under very limited

circumstances. The terms of a contract are entitled to be honored. Therefore, under Idaho law,

the court must find an ambiguity in the words of the agreement in order to 'reform the

instrument,' with the intent not to alter the contract, but to enforce it according to the actual

intention of the contracting parties. A Court has no power to impose its own construction on

the plain language of the contract just because the Court believes that rewriting the agreement

would make it more equitable. These principles were set out in Chandler v. Hayden, 147 Idaho

765, 215 P.3d 485, 492 (2009), in which the Court noted:

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