UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-25-2012

Altrua Healthshare, Inc. v. Deal Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39388

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

The Hearing Officer found that, as a matter of law, Altrua HealthShare's contract for membership is a contract of insurance. A.R., p. 165 (para. 32). The Hearing Officer affirmed that conclusion in a second order after Altrua HealthShare filed a Motion to Reconsider. A.R., p. 191. The Hearing Officer's Preliminary Order was not reviewed as provided under section 67-5245, Idaho Code; therefore, it became a Final Order of the Director of the Idaho Department of Insurance as a matter of law. *See*, Idaho Code § 67-5246(3).

Based on these conclusions of law, the Altrua HealthShare contract for membership is a contract of insurance and, as such, Altrua HealthShare must obtain a certificate of authority under section 41-305, Idaho Code, or cease any further insurance business within the state of Idaho.

Altrua HealthShare appears to argue that, based on the clear and unambiguous terms of the contract for membership, the plain meaning of the terms of the contract steer Altrua HealthShare clear of any state oversight or regulation.

In view of legitimate state of Idaho interests and public policy, it would be unsound to conclude—as Altrua in effect urges—that, as a general rule, when two parties enter into a contract where such contract is clear and unambiguous, it creates a shield against state regulation. On the contrary, as with Altrua HealthShare's contract for membership, "[u]nambiguous contracts that violate public policy are illegal and unenforceable." *National Union Fire Ins. Corp of Pittsburgh PA v. Dixon*, 141 Idaho 537, 541, 112 P.3d 825, 829 (2005). The public policy of the state of Idaho is found in its Constitution, in its statutes, and in its judicial decisions. *Stearns v. Williams*, 72 Idaho 276, 287, 240 P.2d 833, 840 (1952). With regard to the matter of insurance, Idaho's public policy is stated in title 41, Idaho Code, and in Idaho's body of case law. The issue is whether Altrua HealthShare's unambiguous contract for membership is one of insurance. Therefore, "its meaning and legal effect are questions of law . . ." *City of Idaho Falls*, 126 Idaho at 608, 888 P.2d at 383.

Altrua argues that the Department's actions are in violation of the Contract Clause of the U.S. Constitution where it states that "No State shall . . . pass any . . . Law impairing the

7

Obligation of Contracts . . ." U.S. Const. art I, § 10, cl. 1. (*See*, Altrua HealthShare's Opening Brief at 14-15). The Department's interpretation of the contract for membership as one of insurance does not violate the U.S. Constitution.

As noted by the U.S. Supreme Court, the Contract Clause must accommodate "the inherent police power of the State 'to safeguard the vital interests of its people' [citation omitted]." *Energy Reserves Group, Inc. v. Kansas City Power & Light Co.*, 459 U.S. 400, 410, 103 S.Ct. 697, 704 (1983).

For Altrua HealthShare to effectively challenge the Department's interpretation of Idaho's insurance law as applied to Altrua HealthShare under the Contract Clause, Altrua HealthShare must show: (1) that Idaho's law substantially impairs a contractual relationship; (2) that the applicable Idaho insurance code has a narrow purpose without "a significant and legitimate purpose behind the regulation, such as the remedying of a broad and general social or economic problem[;]" and (3) that the law is unreasonable and inappropriate for its intended purpose. *Energy Reserves Group*, 459 U.S. at 412-414, 103 S.Ct. at 704-706.

Insurance is a heavily regulated industry under title 41, Idaho Code. The public policy of the state of Idaho states clearly that the business of insurance is affected "by the public interest, requiring that all persons be actuated by good faith, abstain from deception, and practice honesty and equity in all insurance matters." Idaho Code § 41-113. To the extent that Idaho's insurance code impairs Altrua HealthShare's contract for membership, Idaho's law is "prompted by [] significant and legitimate state interests." *Energy Reserves Group*, 459 U.S. at 416, 103 S.Ct. at 707.

The Department's conclusion that Altrua HealthShare's contract for membership is one of insurance does not violate any statutory or constitutional provisions.

D. Has the Department exceeded its statutory authority by concluding that Altrua HealthShare's contract for membership is a contract of insurance under Idaho law?

Transacting insurance includes the solicitation, inducement, negotiation, and effectuation of a contract of insurance. Idaho Code § 41-112. The insurance code provides a penalty in the amount of \$15,000 against any person who transacts insurance without a proper license. Idaho Code § 41-117A. Among the Director's enforcement powers, after hearing, is the power to impose a cease and desist order or, among other things, to impose an administrative penalty in accordance with title 41, Idaho Code. *See*, Idaho Code § 41-213.

The Department's Final Order (A.R., pp. 147-173 (*See, also*, Amended Order, A.R., pp. 174-177)) did not exceed the Director's authority to enforce Idaho's insurance code.

E. Was the Department's decision made upon unlawful procedure?

The Department understands from discussion and briefing herein that Altrua HealthShare has not made a claim that the Department's decision that Altrua HealthShare's contract for membership is one of insurance was made under any unlawful process.

F. Was the Department's decision that Altrua HealthShare's contract is a form of insurance under Idaho law not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole, or was it arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion?

Substantial and competent evidence is "relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." *Jensen v. City of Pocatello*, 135 Idaho 406, 409, 18 P.3d 211, 214 (2000). After careful and detailed review of the evidence and record before him, the Hearing Officer who issued the Final Order on November 15, 2010, found that "Altrua is in violation of Idaho Code Section 41-305(1) by transacting insurance in the State of Idaho without having obtained a certificate of authority." A.R., p. 170.

The Hearing Officer reviewed whether the contract for membership was one of indemnification and whether it effectively shifted the subject risk from the members to Altrua HealthShare. He rejected Altrua HealthShare's claim that it was merely in the business of administering and/or managing a simple cost sharing, finding instead that the Altrua HealthShare contract constitutes insurance because it is "the form of the relationship and transaction which determine the ultimate relationship here, not the designation given by Altrua." A.R., p. 160 (*See, also,* A.R., p. 191).

The next question relating to this issue turns on whether the Department's decision was arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. The Department's actions "are considered arbitrary and capricious if made without a rational basis, or in disregard of the facts and circumstances, or without adequate determining principles." *Lane Ranch Partnership v. City of Sun Valley*, 145 Idaho 87, 91, 173 P.3d 776, 780 (2007).

While the parties to this action may disagree, upon careful review of the Final Order in this proceeding, it cannot be seriously argued that there is no rational basis for the Hearing Officer's decision or that certain facts and circumstances were simply ignored. The Hearing Officer clearly applied the legal principles of law regarding insurance, indemnification, and underwriting to the Altrua HealthShare contract for membership and determined it is a contract of insurance.

G. Altrua HealthShare's contract for membership is a contract of insurance.

Under Idaho law, the term "insurance" is defined as a "contract whereby one undertakes to indemnify another or pay or allow a specified or ascertainable amount or benefit upon determinable risk contingencies." Idaho Code § 41-102.

To "indemnify" another person means to "restore the victim of a loss, in whole or in part, by payment, repair, or replacement." *Black's Law Dictionary*, 5th Edition, p. 692. In an earlier case, this Court noted that an indemnity is a concept under the common law, where "a person who without fault on his part is compelled to pay damages occasioned by the negligence of another is entitled to indemnity." *Industrial Indemnity Company v. Columbia Basin Steal & Iron Inc.*, 93 Idaho 719, 723, 471 P.2d 574, 578 (1970).

The Altrua HealthShare contract for membership at issue here is a form of disability insurance under Idaho law, which includes "[i]nsurance of human beings against bodily injury, disablement, or death by accident or accidental means, or the expense thereof, or against disablement or expense resulting from sickness, and every insurance appertaining thereto. . ." Idaho Code § 41-503(1). *See, also,* Tr., p. 19, LL. 11-13 (Transcript of Proceedings of September 1, 2010 (A.R., p. 439, *et seq.*)).

If a loss occurs, the insurer indemnifies another person or allows a "specified or ascertainable amount or benefit upon determinable risk contingencies." Idaho Code § 41-102. In insurance law, the term "risk" is "the danger or hazard of a loss of the property insured; the casualty contemplated in a contract of insurance; the degree of hazard; a specified contingency or peril; . . . [i]n general, the element of uncertainty in an undertaking." *Black's Law Dictionary*, 5th Edition, p. 1193.

In the influential 1964 case of *Messerli v. Monarch Memory Gardens, Inc.*, 88 Idaho 88, 397 P.2d 34 (1964), in deciding that the contract in controversy was <u>not</u> a contract of insurance, this Court ruled that a "contract of [] insurance must contain an element of risk in so far as the particular individual contract is concerned." *Messerli*, 88 Idaho at 110, 397 P.2d at 49 (quoting *Georgia Funeral Homes v. Harrison*, 183 Georgia 379, 188 S.E. 529 (1936)).

In another Idaho case, this Court noted that "[i]nsurance has been defined as * * * a contract by which one party, for a consideration * * * promises to make a certain payment of money upon the destruction or injury of something in which the other party has an interest." *Rungee v. Allied Van Lines, Inc.*, 92 Idaho 718, 721, 449 P.2d 378, 381 (1968) (citing Couch on

Insurance 2d § 1:2 (Anderson ed.1959)).

Another term used in Idaho's statutory definition of insurance at section 41-102, Idaho Code, is "determinable." That term has been defined as "[1]iable to come to an end upon the happening of a certain contingency. Susceptible of being determined, found out, definitely decided upon, or settled." *Black's Law Dictionary*, 5th Edition, p. 405. The word "contingency" is defined as the "[q]uality of being contingent or casual; the possibility of coming to pass; an event which may occur; a possibility, a casualty." *Black's Law Dictionary*, 5th Edition, p. 290.

At hearing, Eileen Mundorff, an expert witness and consumer affairs officer for the Idaho Department of Insurance, noted that the term "determinable risk contingencies" from section 41-102, Idaho Code, as applied to Altrua HealthShare's contract means:

[that the] insurer would have specific eligibility Guidelines, specific underwriting Guidelines, where they would accept eligibility for a person based on those Guidelines. So [Altrua HealthShare is] determining the type of risks [it is] willing to take on in order to provide the coverage under this contract of insurance. There are specific plan benefit levels that are being included and offered through this. There are option benefits that a person could elect to take. There are specific dollar amounts that are payable under those plans. There are negotiations with a preferred provider network where they are willing to take certain dollar amounts in payments for certain treatment. Those would be the type of risks that are determined in advance for any contingency of loss, injury, sickness that would combine to make this a contract of insurance.

13

Tr., p. 21, LL. 17-25; p. 22, LL. 1-22 (Transcript of Proceedings September 1, 2010 (A.R., p. 439, *et seq.*)). When a person joins Altrua HealthShare, he or she, known as "the membership participant," (hereinafter "participant") signs a form entitled "Membership Escrow Instructions." A.R., p. 20. The instructions direct Altrua HealthShare to hold any monthly contributions paid by the participant in escrow and to pay out in order as directed. A.R., p. 20. The order of payment requires Altrua HealthShare to first "pay the expenses of operating the <u>membership</u>," then "to pay <u>eligible needs</u> pursuant to the <u>guidelines</u> as modified from time to time by Altrua HealthShare and as interpretes [*sic*] and applied by Altrua HealthShare," and, in the event of any surplus, such "remaining funds shall be disbursed to qualified charities, as determined by Altrua HealthShare." A.R., p. 20.

The Guidelines and other program elements, as identified in Eileen Mundorff's testimony, are set out in the record as follows: the 2007 Guidelines are at A.R., pp. 40-53; the membership eligibility manual is at A.R., pp. 25-34; the "monthly contribution requests" is at A.R., pp. 35-36; the height and weight guidelines are at A.R., pp. 29-30; the membership classifications and specific plan benefit levels (including selected "monthly contribution requests" based on membership benefit levels) are at A.R., p. 31; and the medical review questionnaire of participant is at A.R., pp. 32-34.

As the record reveals, Altrua HealthShare steadfastly denies that its contract for membership is insurance. In addition, Altrua HealthShare consistently avoids the use of the term "insurance" in its documents. *See*, generally, A.R., pp. 16-54 (Application and 2007 Guidelines) and A.R., pp. 298-319 (2010 Guidelines). Yet, "[n]o one can change the nature of insurance by

14

declaring in the contract that it is not insurance." *McCarty v. King County Medical Service Corporation*, 26 Wn.2d 660, 684, 175 P.2d 653, 666 (Washington 1946).

This principle was explored by this Court in the case of *Rungee*, 92 Idaho 718, 449 P.2d 378 (1968). In *Rungee*, one issue was "whether there was an insurance contract between the parties in [that] case." *Rungee*, 92 Idaho at 721, 449 P.2d at 381. The party subject to the inquiry denied that it was an insurance company. Even though the literature in the case "use[d] the term 'protection' rather than 'insurance,' all of the basic elements of an insurance contract [were] present." *Rungee*, 92 Idaho at 721, 449 P.2d at 381. The Court noted that upon payment of a "premium" one party agreed to indemnify the other for "loss or damages to his household goods up to their declared value of \$5,000. Thus, there was an insurance contract between the parties [in the Rungee case]." *Rungee*, 92 Idaho at 721, 440 P.2d at 381.

When asked what about the Altrua HealthShare contract makes it an indemnification under section 41-102, Idaho Code, Eileen Mundorff answered:

Because there's a specific application form, there are underwriting criteria and Guidelines, specific eligibility Guidelines, that would appear to me to be an application where there is a promise on behalf of Altrua HealthShare to promise to pay or indemnify someone for specific causes, for specific reasons; that once someone qualifies to be covered under this product, a person can negotiate specific plan coverages, plan levels. There are option benefits that are available that a person can elect. There are specific dollar limits included in annual limits, lifetime limits. There are exclusions. There is a requirement – a request to use

their preferred provider organization. All of these would combine to be a contract of indemnification to pay specific dollar amounts or benefits based on the covered expenses that are included under this contract.

Tr., p. 20, LL. 21-25; p. 21, LL. 1-16 (Transcript of Proceedings of September 1, 2010 (A.R., p. 439, *et seq.*)). As the foregoing notes with regard to Altrua HealthShare's eligibility requirements, underwriting standards, benefits levels, membership types, optional benefit level, dollar amounts, limitations, pre-notification, and negotiations with "preferred providers," Altrua HealthShare is underwriting and determining the risk of paying the "needs" of its members. A few of the elements of underwriting that Altrua HealthShare uses in determining risks are:

(1) The "Guidelines" is the governing document for determining eligibility of the member participant's medical needs submitted to Altrua HealthShare. *See*, A.R., p. 19 (under paragraph entitled "COMMITMENTS").

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